STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

NATHANIEL ANTRON HUNTER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001125

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JUN 27 2018
SC Court of Appeals

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in refusing to declare a mistrial when, in opening statement, the prosecution referenced photographs of Appellant with a gun found on Appellant's phone, although, prior to opening statements, Appellant objected to the admissibility of the photographs, the trial judge withheld ruling on the admissibility of the photographs pending further testimony, and ultimately the photographs were not admitted in evidence?
2. Did the trial judge err in admitting a witness statement recorded by police while the witness was at the hospital being prepared for surgery and included statements by treating medical personnel without conducting a Rule 403 balancing test when portions of the recording were irrelevant and any possible probative value in the recording was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and the needless presentation of cumulative evidence pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE?
3. Did the trial judge err in admitting the content of text messages derived from a cell phone extraction report?
4. Did the trial judge err in refusing to declare a mistrial based on the fact that the cumulative effect of the errors adversely affected Appellant's right to a fair trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December of 2014, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Nathaniel Antron Hunter, for burglary first degree, criminal sexual conduct with a minor third degree, attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, indictments #2014-GS-32-3687, 3688, 3689 and 3692. (R. p. 1064). On April 24, 2017, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Thomas W. Cooper. Dayne C. Phillips, Jael D. Gilreath and Jason S. Chehoski represented Appellant at trial. Laura Suzanne Mayes and Robert E. McNair, III, prosecuted the case. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. (R. p. 1035). Judge Cooper sentenced Appellant to forty-five (45) years for burglary first degree, fifteen (15) years concurrent for criminal sexual conduct with a minor third degree, thirty (30) years concurrent for attempted murder and five (5) years concurrent for the weapon charge. (R. p. 1056). A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on May 4, 2017. This appeal follows.

FACTS

On the evening of April 12, 2014, Larenda Simon was sleeping next to her daughter in their apartment. She woke up and saw a man standing over her with a gun. (R. p. 276, line 7 – p. 277, lines 1-6). Simon testified at trial that the man had on a hoodie and a ski mask that covered his whole face. (R. p. 277, lines 18-21). Simon testified that the man took her phone and told her to take off her panties. (R. p. 278, line 23 – p. 279, lines 1-23). When she told him she was menstruating, he told the daughter to take her clothes off. (R. p. 280, lines 1-25). A struggle ensued between Simon and the man resulting in Simon being shot. (R. pp. 282-284). The man fled and Simon and her daughter went to a neighbor's apartment and the neighbor called 911. (R. pp. 286-287). According to Simon, she remembered the man's eyes and voice and during the trial, for the first time, identified Appellant. (R. p. 302, line 18 – p. 303, lines 1-12).

Investigator Scott Neel with the West Columbia Police Department testified that he was present when another investigator, Charles Bramlett, collected evidence at the apartment. (R. p. 578, line 13 – p. 579, lines 1-12). According to Investigator Neel he was present when Investigator Bramlett collected a hoodie that contained a cap stuffed inside. (R. p. 591, line 1 – p. 592, lines 1-25). Investigator Bramlett passed away prior to trial. (R. p. 42, line 24 – p. 43, lines 1-6). The hoodie is listed in an incident report prepared by Investigator Bramlett and in the return to the search warrant. The cap is not. (R. p. 727, line 1 – p. 728, 729 lines 1-5). The West Columbia evidence custodian, Ms. Ottenbacher did not testify at trial. (R. p. 946, lines 22-24). The first forensic technician at Sled to receive the cap, Amy Stephens, did not testify at trial. (R.

p. 946, line 24 – p. 947, line 1)¹. Appellant was found to be a contributor to DNA found on the cap. (R. pp. 866-869). There was no other forensic evidence linking Appellant to Simon's apartment.

Upon Appellant's arrest the police seized his cell phone. (R. p. 460, line 1 – p. 461, lines 1-12). Investigator Michael Phipps with the Lexington County Sheriff's Office extracted information from Appellant's phone and generated an extraction report. (R. pp. 928-930). A summary of the extraction report was made, introduced over objection at trial and testified to by Investigator Phipps.

¹ The chain of custody as to the hoodie and cap, State's Exhibit #101, is not being challenged on direct appeal. At trial the chain was challenged based on the unavailability of Investigator Bramlett. (R. pp. 47-62). When the State moved to admit the items in evidence before the West Columbia evidence custodian, Ms. Ottenbacher, testified and before the first forensic technician at Sled to receive the cap, Amy Stephens, testified, Appellant objected, "subject to prior motion" but not on the ground that the chain was incomplete. (R. p. 594, lines 22-24). The objection to the chain as being incomplete came later. (R. p. 898, line 20 – p. 899, lines 1-11; p. 946, line 6 – p. 947, lines 1-7).

ARGUMENTS

- 1. The trial judge erred in refusing to declare a mistrial when, in opening statement, the prosecution referenced photographs of Appellant with a gun found on Appellant's phone, although, prior to opening statements, Appellant objected to the admissibility of the photographs, the trial judge withheld ruling on the admissibility of the photographs pending further testimony, and ultimately the photographs were not admitted in evidence.**

Prior to trial Appellant moved to suppress information extracted from his seized phone. (R. pp 150 – 165). Photos of Appellant with a gun were included in the suppression motion. (R. p. 152, lines 5-17; p. 155, lines 12-17). The trial judge withheld ruling on the motion to suppress in order allow both sides to present expert testimony. (R. pp. 160 – 165). During opening statement, prior to the judge ruling on the motion to suppress the photographs, the prosecutor told the jury, "Law enforcement eventually obtains his phone, his cell phone, and they search his phone. And on that phone are pictures of him holding that 40 caliber Glock." (R. p. 191, lines 17-19). Appellant responded, "Your Honor, we have a matter of law." (R. p. 191, line 22). The trial judge stated, "Yes, sir. There's still some evidentiary issues regarding the phone records and I would suggest that we not go any deeper into those at this point in time. Thank you. I note your objection. Thank you." (R. p. 191, line 23 – p. 192, line 1).

Later the trial judge stated:

Folks, a couple of things. First of all, while we're -- while the jury is out during opening statements Mr. McNair made reference to telephone records and to photographs that were gleaned as a result of those records. He referred specifically to a photograph of the Defendant in possession of what appeared to be a Glock pistol and was going on further to talk about photographs. At that point in time Mr. Phillips objected and I made a notation to -- to deal with this out of the presence of the jury. At a sidebar I indicated that there had been a reference at some point in time -- as I understood it, someone had indicated that there was going to be testimony of a -- of a witness who was gonna testify about his possession of a gun. I, therefore, thought that would be cumulative in any event.

And the matter of the phone records, of course, is still an evidentiary issue that has not been completely resolved. But in any event, I overruled the objection and,

Mr. Phillips, I'll be glad for you to expand on that record if you'd like.

(R. p. 256, lines 6-25). Appellant then moved for a mistrial based on the fact that the judge had not yet ruled on admissibility and arguing that the photographs were inadmissible as irrelevant pursuant to Rule 401, SCRE and if relevant, the probative value of the photographs would be substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. (R. p. 257, line 1 – p. 258, lines 1-9). The judge denied the motion for a mistrial stating, “I do not find that the mention of the Defendant being in possession of a weapon at whatever time it was has so irretrievably tainted these proceedings as to deny Mr. Hunter’s right to a fair and impartial trial, so the motion for mistrial is respectfully denied.” (R. p. 258, lines 10-18). The judge erred.

Later a redacted version of the phone extraction summary, marked as Court’s Exhibit #11, was admitted, over objection, as State’s exhibit #122. (R. p. 931, lines 2-10). The redacted version did not contain the photographs. (R. p. 1059-1063). At the close of the State’s case Appellant renewed the motion for a mistrial arguing, “In the opening statement, the solicitor referred to a timeline of one to five, that they could pin it down to no phone activity from one to five and that there would be photographs of Mr. Hunter holding a gun. Your Honor ruled that that information – or that evidence, excuse me, is inadmissible. In finding that the timeline and photographs were inadmissible and were not presented to the jury is misleading and highly prejudicial to his right to a fair trial, so we would renew the motion for the mistrial in the opening.” (R. p. 945, line 19 – p. 946, lines 1-3). The judge again denied the motion for a mistrial. (R. p. 948, lines 6-9).

“ ‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, statutes, [the rules of evidence], or by other rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of South Carolina.” Rule 402, SCRE. “Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” *Id.* “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE.

The photographs were correctly excluded as irrelevant and highly prejudicial. It was unclear from the telephone extraction report when the photographs were taken or how the firearms in the photographs were connected to the trial. Although the prosecutor stated that one of the guns in the photo was a Glock and the weapon used in the shooting was a Glock, (R. p. 155, lines 12-17), the State’s firearm expert testified that the projectiles recovered at the scene could have been fired by six different types of guns (R. p. 829, lines 19-22). Although Appellant’s cousin, Tanisha Taylor, testified that she saw Appellant cleaning a gun once, (R. p. 799, lines 1-19), that testimony is far less damaging than the prosecutor’s reference to the photograph of Appellant with a gun made in opening statement.

The trial judge erred in refusing to grant a mistrial when the prosecutor in opening statement referenced the photograph of Appellant with a gun when the photograph was properly excluded from evidence. In State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 692 S.E.2d 560 (Ct.App. 2010) the State, in opening statement, made reference to an outstanding warrant. Wiley objected and the judge

sustained the objection and immediately instructed the jury that opening statements were not evidence. At the close of State's opening, Wiley moved for a mistrial. The trial judge denied the motion for a mistrial. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial judge's denial of the mistrial motion writing:

In this case, the State informed the trial court during pre-trial that Wiley had a bench warrant for possession with intent to distribute in Richland County. However, the State did not identify to the jury the substantive nature of the warrant during its opening statements. As a result, the jury was unaware of the precise nature of the warrant. Furthermore, the record reveals the reference to Wiley's warrant was for the purpose of establishing the legality of the traffic stop. Therefore, we believe the State's comment regarding Wiley's warrant was merely a vague reference to his prior criminal record that did not justify granting his motion for mistrial. Furthermore, even if the jury inferred that Wiley committed another crime from the State's opening statement, we believe Wiley was not prejudiced because the State never attempted to prove Wiley was convicted of some other crime. See State v. Robinson, 238 S.C. 140, 119 S.E.2d 671 (1961), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) (concluding a reference to a defendant's past conduct was not prejudicial because even if the testimony created the inference in the jury's mind that the accused had committed another crime, the State never attempted to prove the accused had been convicted of some other crime). Therefore, we conclude the State's opening statement regarding Wiley's unrelated outstanding warrant was not sufficiently prejudicial to warrant a mistrial.

State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. at 496, 692 S.E.2d at 563. The generic warrant reference in Wiley is easily distinguished from the specific reference that police found, on Appellant's phone, pictures of Appellant holding "that 40 caliber Glock." The trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to declare a mistrial.

- 2. The trial judge erred in admitting a witness statement recorded by police while the witness was at the hospital being prepared for surgery and included statements by treating medical personnel because portions of the recording were irrelevant and any possible probative value in the recording was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and the needless presentation of cumulative evidence pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE.**

On April 13, 2014, Chris Hall with Lexington County EMS transported Larenda Simon to the hospital. (R. pp. 277 – 233). Investigator Thomas Griffin with the West Columbia Police Department interviewed Simon in the trauma unit of the emergency room prior to her surgery. (R. p. 439. Line 12 – p. 440, 441, lines 1-21). Investigator Griffin testified that while he interviewed Simon doctors were preparing her for surgery and “it was an active emergency room.” (R. p. 441, lines 6-10). Investigator Griffin testified at trial that he asked Simon about the description of the suspect and she provided a description. (R. p. 442, lines 13-25). The investigator then decided to record a statement from Simon. (R. p. 443, lines 16-25). The recording of Simon’s statement was admitted, over objection, as State’s Exhibit #63. (R. p. 447, lines 4-15). A sidebar conference was held and the tape was played for the jury. (R. p. 447, line 21 – p. 448, lines 1-3).

Later, outside of the presence of the jury, Appellant asked to address the sidebar conference. (R. p. 475, lines 8-11). The trial judge noted, “I think we’re – I think we’re up to the playing of the tape, State’s Exhibit 67. The objection was made at sidebar that it was hearsay and inadmissible and, Mr. Phillips, I’ll be glad for you to develop that more completely, if you’d like.” (R. p. 475, lines 12-19). Appellant argued:

Yes, Your Honor. For the audio recording of Larenda Simon by Investigator Griffin that was played in court, the objection that was made at sidebar at the request of the Court was essentially not only hearsay, but also under 401 that it was – that there were portions that were irrelevant and should have been redacted, there were places that were played before the jury that had medical personnel speaking. Also under Rule 403 that any probative value would be substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and confusion of the issues. I believe Your Honor specifically even referenced that some parts of that with the medical personnel would be irrelevant and would be prejudicial. Your Honor did acknowledge that at sidebar. With that, the solicitor – since the interview was not redacted, they hand-manually on a laptop skipped different parts

and as they were skipping different parts of the interview medical personnel – their comments were coming in randomly as it was skipped. And certainly we have a continued objection as to the entire tape. I know one of the arguments was made by the State under the rule of completeness and I understand Your Honor's argument that we're not trying to say that it should be played --

(R. p. 475, line 20 – p. 476, lines 1-17). Appellant additionally argued:

So at that point when it was coming in, that they were not getting the entire audio recorded interview, that we are arguing that is inadmissible, but also that as it came in it was highlighting this medical personnel being manually played. I'm just trying to put into words what happened that only if you were here you'd be able to know. As it was manually skipped, the audio recording, as I tried to unartfully explain and probably more confusing for the record, that as it was skipped throughout the audio recording, it wasn't purposeful, they were trying their best I would imagine, but in that process medical personnel statements were still coming in rapidly because they weren't going to specific parts. It wasn't redacted to exclude those specific parts. And, Your Honor, it was also skipped – again, like I said before, certain parts of Ms. Simon's statement that in their argument to play that under the rule of completeness left out specific parts that would make other parts more relevant, but then had also medical personnel testimony or statements that came in. And, again, I know that was woefully argued, but my point would still be under hearsay and under rules 401 and 403.

(R. p. 476, line 24 – p. 477, lines 1-22). The judge found that the statement was admissible pursuant to 803(2). (R. p. 477, line 23 – p. 478, lines 1-24). The judge agreed that portions of the recording which dealt with treatment were irrelevant. (R. p. 478, line 25 – p. 479, lines 1-6). The judge, however, found that the recording was not prejudicial. (R. p. 479, lines 7-19). The judge additionally found no problem with the manner in which the tape was played for the jury. (R. p. 479, line 19 – p. 480, lines 1-2). The trial judge erred in admitting the recorded statement of Simon. The trial judge failed to identify any probative value in the admission of the recorded statement of Simon, which included comments by medical personnel.

The objection went to the recorded statement and not the description of the suspect Simon provided to the investigator. The statement by Simon, recorded by police at the hospital, was consistent with her trial testimony, which the jury had already heard. The prior statement was not offered to rebut a charge of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive pursuant to Rule 801(d)(1)(B). Any possible probative value in the recorded statement was substantially diminished by the fact that Simon had already testified consistently at trial. See State v. Forester, 354 S.C. 614, 622, 582 S.E.2d 426, 430 (2003) (“The plain language of Rule 801(d)(1)(B) only permits evidence of a prior consistent statement when the witness has been charged with recent fabrication or improper motive or influence.” (quoting State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 124, 551 S.E.2d 240, 245 (2001))).

“Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Rule 402, SCRE. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE. The judge acknowledged that portions of the recorded statement were irrelevant stating, “As to the fact that some of the things were irrelevant, you’re exactly right. The treatment itself and the conversations going back and forth were irrelevant to these proceedings and so it was appropriate to try to cut those things out. To the extent that she could not, while they’re irrelevant, that doesn’t necessarily mean that they’re prejudicial.” (R. p. 478, line 25 – p. 479, lines 1-6). Irrelevant evidence does not become admissible simply because it is non-prejudicial. The trial judge failed to identify what parts of the recorded statement were relevant. Assuming that part of the recording was relevant, without admitting that, if the State was unable to redact

the irrelevant portions, then the whole statement should have been excluded. Appellant argues that the whole statement is irrelevant and should have been excluded.

The judge found the recorded statement met an exception to the rule against hearsay pursuant to Rule 803(2) as an excited utterance. (R. p. 477, line 23 – p. 478, lines 1-24). Exceptions to the rule against hearsay still must be excluded if the probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and the needless presentation of cumulative evidence pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. As stated, the trial judge failed to identify any probative value in the admission of the recorded statement of Simon, which included admittedly irrelevant comments by medical personnel. The recorded statement should have been excluded as both unfairly prejudicial and cumulative.

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