ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
Thomas W. Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001125

RECEIVED

JUL 05 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

NATHANIEL ANTRON HUNTER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

S.R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street, 3rd Floor
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to grant a mistrial based on the prosecutor's comment during his opening statement that the jury would see a photograph of Appellant holding a gun like one used to shoot victim, where the court allowed a witness to view the photograph and testify she recognized the gun as similar to Appellant's, but did not allow the jury to view the photograph because it also showed Appellant holding a second gun.

Appellant claims the trial court erred by refusing to grant a mistrial based on the prosecutor's remark during his opening statement that law enforcement discovered a picture on Appellant's phone of Appellant holding a 40 caliber Glock pistol. Defense counsel contemporaneously objected to the comment because the court had not yet ruled on his motion in limine to exclude the picture. R. 191. The court noted that it had yet to rule on Appellant's motion to exclude the picture, and suggested the prosecutor not go into further detail. R. 191. Defense counsel later moved for a mistrial at a time provided by the court. R. 257. The court denied the motion, finding the mere mention of Appellant being in possession of a weapon did not necessitate a mistrial. R. 258. The court indicated it would give a curative instruction if necessary. R. 258. During the course of trial, the State produced evidence that the crime was committed using a 40 caliber pistol; that a data extraction was performed on Appellant's phone; and that Appellant owned a 40 caliber handgun. A witness testified Appellant owned a 40 caliber handgun, and was allowed to view the photograph in question. She testified she recognized the gun as Appellant's. R. 798-800. However, the trial judge did not allow the State to publish the picture to the jury because it showed Appellant holding two guns, not just the gun recognized by the State's witness, and the court believed the photograph would be cumulative and unfairly prejudicial to Appellant. R. 860, l. 10-13; 837-38. Appellant moved for a mistrial

again at the close of the State's case, and the court again denied the motion. R. 945-46. The court did not err because the State produced competent evidence reasonably supporting the comment, and Appellant suffered no prejudice.

The decision to grant or deny a motion for a mistrial is a matter within a trial court's sound discretion, and such a decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 12, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999). A mistrial should not be granted unless absolutely necessary. State v. Wasson, 299 S.C. 508, 510, 386 S.E.2d 255, 256 (1989). Instead, the trial judge should exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial. Id. In order to receive a mistrial, the defendant must show error and resulting prejudice. Id.

Although Appellant claims the "photographs were correctly excluded as irrelevant and highly prejudicial," Brief of Appellant p. 7, Appellant mischaracterizes the trial court's ruling. The court never found that evidence that Appellant owned a 40 caliber pistol was irrelevant or prejudicial. Rather, the court simply ruled the photograph would not be published to the jury because Taylor had already testified the gun in the picture appeared to be the same gun she saw Appellant with in the past, and the picture's depiction of the second gun created a danger of unfair prejudice. R. 837-38. The court reasoned that "the jury certainly does not need to see [the second gun] in this case as there's not been any evidence or testimony at this point of any other firearm." R. 837-38. This is not a case where the prosecutor made an improper reference to prejudicial facts and then failed to produce any evidence to support it. Rather, the prosecutor merely stated a probative fact the State intended to prove, produced evidence in support of that fact, but was ultimately prevented from publishing the picture itself because it contained extraneous, irrelevant information that might unfairly prejudice Appellant's right to a fair trial.

“The solicitor is permitted in opening statement to outline the facts the State intends to prove. As long as the State introduces evidence to reasonably support the stated facts, there is no error.” State v. Kornahrens, 290 S.C. 281, 284, 350 S.E.2d 180, 183 (1986) (internal citations omitted). “The law does not require that opening trial statements be completely supported by evidence introduced during the trial. Such a rule, rigidly enforced, would effectively eliminate opening remarks and deprive the jury of a very useful outline of the trial as the attorneys expect it to unfold. . . . (T)he failure to sustain all opening remarks during the trial is not automatically ground for a new trial. The decision is discretionary and is for the trial judge.” Mares v. United States, 409 F.2d 1083, 1085 (10th Cir. 1968).

The underlying fact that the photograph was offered to prove (that Appellant had access to a 40 caliber handgun) was relevant. Tanisha Taylor testified Appellant owned what she believed to be a 40 caliber Glock handgun. R. 798-800. This testimony made it more likely Appellant had the means to commit the crime. See Rule 401, SCRE (“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having **any tendency** to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”) (emphasis added). Appellant did not object to this testimony as irrelevant or prejudicial. Taylor’s testimony removed any prejudice that would have resulted had the prosecutor not been able to provide any support for the statement, and justifies the court’s decision not to grant a mistrial. Improper comments by a prosecutor do not automatically require reversal if they are not prejudicial to the defendant. Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998); United States v. Brockington, 849 F.2d 872, 875 (4th Cir. 1988). Additionally, the trial judge instructed the jury that opening statements are not evidence, further curing any possible prejudice caused by the prosecutor’s remark. R. 183. See Johnson v. State,

325 S.C. 182, 188, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735–36 (1997) (trial judge’s instruction cured improper argument by prosecutor).

The court’s decision not to declare a mistrial is supported by case law, and was within the court’s discretion. As stated above, the State produced evidence that reasonably supported the prosecutor’s remarks, and the judge correctly found Appellant suffered no prejudice. Placed in context, the prosecutor’s isolated comment did not present the “manifest necessity” of a mistrial. See Wasson, supra. The trial court did not err.

II.

The trial court did not err by admitting an audio recording of Victim's statement in the emergency room where immaterial or indiscernible statements of medical personnel can be heard in the background.

Appellant claims the trial court erred by admitting a recorded audio statement of Victim given in the emergency room shortly after the incident, arguing “the whole statement is irrelevant.” Brief of Appellant, p. 12. Alternatively, Appellant argues the entire statement should have been excluded because it contains unspecified “irrelevant comments” that could not be redacted because they were entwined with Victim’s statement. Brief of Appellant, p. 11-12. Finally, Appellant claims the court “failed to identify what parts of the recorded statement were relevant.” Brief of Appellant, p. 11. Not only are Appellant’s final two arguments unsupported by authority, each argument ignores the appropriate standard of review— abuse of discretion. The trial court did not err.

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 57–58 (2011). “‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” SCRE 403. Unfair prejudice means “an undue tendency to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.” State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 128, 606 S.E.2d 508, 514 (Ct. App. 2004). “A trial court has particularly wide discretion in ruling on

Rule 403 objections.” State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct.App.2012). “A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.” State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 260, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App.2013).

Appellant first claims the statement is irrelevant. However, a nearly contemporaneous account from the only adult eyewitness to a crime is relevant evidence of what occurred. It doesn't matter that the victim/ eyewitness also testified at trial. Her statement was admitted as an excited utterance, which the law recognizes as carrying a “special reliability.” State v. Burdette, 335 S.C. 34, 42, 515 S.E.2d 525, 529 (1999). Appellant does not contest the trial court's admission of the statement as an excited utterance, but instead remarkably claims that the whole statement is irrelevant despite the fact that the statement describes in detail what occurred, including the physical characteristics of her attacker. Few pieces of evidence could be more probative than a first-hand description of events given by the only adult eyewitness less than two hours after the incident. R. 228, l. 11, State's Exhibit 67.

Appellant also claims the recording was unfairly prejudicial because it contained “irrelevant comments” by medical personnel. Appellant does not cite any specific comments, nor does he offer any explanation how the statements suggested the jury make its decision on an improper basis. A review of State's Exhibit 67 reveals that Victim's statement to the investigating officer was interrupted midway through by an ER doctor who calmly explained to Victim that her injuries would require surgery. Recognizing that the doctor's explanation of medical procedures was not relevant to the underlying facts, the prosecutor fast-forwarded through this portion of the interview. R. 476. Despite this curative measure (that Appellant requested), defense counsel then objected to the entire tape. R. 476. Indeed, defense counsel

objected repeatedly to nearly every piece of evidence offered by the State throughout the trial. Now, Appellant claims the trial court erred by not excluding the entire statement because it was not possible to redact unspecified irrelevant comments by medical personnel heard in the background during Victim's statement to the officer. State's Exhibit 67 contains few, if any, intelligible comments by medical personnel apart from the doctor's explanation of what procedures would be performed (which was redacted), and none that could reasonably be viewed as unfairly prejudicial to Appellant. Because Appellant cites no authority to support his extreme argument that otherwise admissible evidence should be totally excluded if **any** irrelevant, immaterial comments are incapable of redaction, this argument is not preserved for review. Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding "short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review."). Even if preserved, it has no merit.

Finally, Appellant argues the trial court erred because he "failed to identify what parts of the recorded statement were relevant." Brief of Appellant p. 11. Of course, this is not the correct standard of review. The correct standard is "whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence." State v. Funderburk, 367 S.C. 236, 239, 625 S.E.2d 248, 249 (Ct. App. 2006). Again, Appellant cites no authority in support of this argument. The trial court did not err.

III.

The trial court did not err by admitting text messages extracted from Appellant's phone because the messages were not hearsay.

Lastly, Appellant claims the trial court erred by admitting text messages extracted from Appellant's cell phone, arguing the content of the messages is hearsay. However, because the text messages were not offered for their truth, they are not hearsay. The court did not err.

“‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE. In this case, the text messages were not offered for their truth. For example, the messages were not offered to prove whether Taylor “ate her chicken” or whether Taylor was busy at work. State’s Exhibit 122. They were admitted to corroborate Taylor’s testimony that she did not cause the scratches on Appellant’s face (no mention of which was made in the messages), and to more completely show Appellant’s state of mind in the hours and days following the incident. Again, Appellant fails to offer any reasoning or authority why the messages are hearsay, or even specify which messages he objects to. Therefore, the issue is not preserved for review. See Glasscock, supra. In any case, the trial court did not err because the statements are not hearsay.

IV.

Even if the trial court erred, Appellant suffered no prejudice because evidence of his guilt was overwhelming.

Even if the trial court erred, any error was harmless because evidence of Appellant's guilt was overwhelming. Error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 109, 771 S.E.2d 336, 340 (2015). When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989).

Perhaps as damning as Appellant's DNA being recovered from the skull cap that Victim ripped off of him during the struggle for her life, or Victim's in-court identification of Appellant as her attacker, is the guilty mind Appellant demonstrated in the days following his crime. Not only did Appellant desperately attempt to have his DNA removed from the State's DNA database three days after the attack, he rented a car and tried to sell his own. R. 568; 770. Despite Taylor's testimony that Appellant owned a 40 caliber handgun, no gun was recovered in a search of Appellant's residence or car. R. 738. Appellant never denied committing the crime. R. 757. Instead, he tried to negotiate a deal with investigators. R. 757. He lied to investigators about how he received the scratches on his face. R. 496. He blocked his number in every call he made to a law enforcement agency, yet inexplicably left the same phone number with the employee he spoke with regarding the DNA database. R. 769; 939. Finally, he fled from police when they attempted to pull him over. R. 457-58. Appellant's actions strip any credence from his excuse that he gave his clothing to a "crackhead" sometime before the incident. R. 495. Appellant's guilt was proven so conclusively that no other rational conclusion could be reached. His conviction should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.